I. INTRODUCTION

Todd Newlun ("Newlun"), Plaintiff in the underlying matter, was

arrested in 2011 for selling approximately three pounds of marijuana to

an undercover police officer. During the sale, the officer wore a "safety

wire" that transmitted his voice, and the voices of those around him, to

another police officer who was monitoring the drug sale. The one-way

transmissions were not recorded. During the resulting criminal

proceeding, Newlun successfully moved to suppress some evidence of

the sale because the officers involved had received verbal, but not

written, permission to use the officer safety wire from a supervisor. That

authorization procedure did not comply with that set forth by

RCW 9.73.210. Consequently, the charges against Newlun were reduced

by the prosecutor, and Newlun pleaded guilty to a misdemeanor charge of

possessing 40 grams or less of marijuana.

Afterward, Newlun sued a group of government defendants,

including the officers who investigated and arrested him. He seeks

monetary damages for alleged violations of Ch. 9.73 RCW, the

Washington State Privacy Act. Newlun's claims fail as a matter of law

for two reasons:

First, it is a complete defense to any action for damages for

personal injury that the person injured was engaged in the commission of



a felony at the time of the occurrence causing the injury, and the felony

was a proximate cause of the injury or death. RCW 4.24.420. Because

Newlun's alleged injuries would not have occurred but for his

engagement in a felony drug sale, his claim must be dismissed.

Second, the Act only protects "private communication."

RCW 9.73.030. Because Newlun had no reasonable expectation of

privacy during his sale of marijuana to two strangers, in the strangers' car

on a public road, his statements during the sale are not covered by the

Act. The parties agree there are no materially disputed facts regarding

either of the above issues. In accordance with that agreement, these

issues have been certified for decision by this Court as controlling

questions of law. RAP 2.3(b)(4).

The State of Washington and Trooper B. L. Hanger, joined by the

other law enforcement agencies and individual officers who have been

sued by Todd Newlun, request that this Court grant judgment as a matter

of law in their favor, and dismiss this lawsuit against them in its entirety.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Assignments of Error

a. The trial court in entering its September 25, 2014

Order Denying Defendants' Washington State Patrol and Trooper B.L.

Hanger's Motion for Summary Judgment.



b. The trial court erred in entering its April 4, 2014

Order re: Summary Judgment.

2. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

a. Does RCW 4.24.420 bar a lawsuit for injury

damages where the alleged damages would not have occurred unless the

Plaintiff was actively engaging in an illegal sale of drugs?

b. Does a drug dealer have a reasonable expectation of

privacy in conversations had with strangers during the course of an illegal

sale of marijuana?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

In 2011, Mr. Newlun was arrested and charged with the sale and

delivery of marijuana, a Class C felony. CP at 85-87. During that

criminal proceeding, he successfully moved to suppress evidence based

on the arresting officers' failure to complete a written application to use

an officer safety wire transmitter as required by RCW 9.73.210. CP at

175-176, 990-93. Because the evidence required for conviction was

suppressed, Mr. Newlun was able to negotiate a plea bargain. He

ultimately pleaded guilty to a reduced misdemeanor charge of possession

of 40 grams or less of marijuana.



As part of the criminal proceeding, Whatcom Superior Court

Judge Charles Snyder held an evidentiary hearing on the application of

RCW 9.73 to the facts of Mr. Newlun's case. CP at 89-178. Judge

Snyder determined that only RCW 9.73.210, and not RCW 9.73.230, was

applicable to the facts of this case. CP at 172.

After his criminal case resolved, Mr. Newlun filed this action

under RCW 9.73, the Privacy Act, claiming the officers who arrested him

violated his privacy rights electronically transmitting his voice from one

officer to another during the drug sale. CP at 21-25. Mr. Newlun sued

The Washington State Patrol, Whatcom County Sheriffs Office, and

Bellingham Police Department - all members of the Northwest Regional

Drug Task Force responsible for the investigation into his marijuana

sales. CPat21. Mr. Newlun also sued the individual officers involved in

that investigation: Whatcom County Sheriff Sergeant Rick Sucee,

Whatcom County Sheriff Deputy Richard Frakes, Bellingham Police

Officer Craig Johnson, and WSP Detective B.L. Hanger. CP at 21. In his

Complaint, Mr. Newlun sought general damages against each entity

pursuant to RCW 9.73.060 and exemplary damages against each

defendant of $25,000, as set forth in RCW 9.73.230.1 CP at 25.

1Newlun also requested that the trial court certify a class action of plaintiffs
who were also improperly transmitted. CP at 25. The court denied class certification on
September 20, 2013. CP at 742-43.



On May 24, 2013, the Defendants jointly moved for summary

judgment. CP at 70. They argued that, because this case involved an

"officer safety wire" (governed by RCW 9.73.210), rather than an

"evidence gathering wire" (governed by RCW 9.73.230), the

RCW 9.73.230 exemplary damages were unavailable to Mr. Newlun in this

case. CP at 78-79. On September 18, 2013, this Court entered an order

granting partial summary judgment to Defendants. CP at 738-41. There,

the Court dismissed Mr. Newlun's claim for exemplary damages and held

that "[fjhe penalties specified in RCW 9.73.230(11) do not apply in this

case." RCW 9.73.230; CP at 740.

In February 2014, the Defendants filed a joint motion for

summary judgment and dismissal on the grounds that the conversations

during the marijuana sale between Detective Hanger, the confidential

informant, and Mr. Newlun were not private under state law. CP at 836-

50. The Defendants argued that because (1) there was a third party

present during the conversations, (2) the parties were strangers, and (3)

the conversations took place in public in a stranger's car the conversations

were not private and Mr. Newlun therefore had no cause of action. CP at

836-50. This motion was denied by the trial court. CP at 958-60.

Finally, in August 2014, the Defendants filed a third joint motion

for summary judgment based on RCW 4.24.420, which provides



immunity from suit by a plaintiff who was damaged while committing a

felony. CP at 961-66, 1105-09. The trial court also denied this motion.

CP at 1163-65. However, following that denial and by agreement of the

parties, the trial court stayed the proceedings and entered a CR 54(b)

order entitling the parties to appellate review of each of the above three

summary judgment rulings as a matter of right. CP at 1180-83; RAP

2.3(b)(4).

This Court should reverse these denials of summary judgment

because, as a matter of law, Mr. Newlun's lawsuit is barred by

RCW 4.24.420. In addition, this Court should also reverse the trial

court's decision and grant judgment as a matter of law to the Defendants

because the drug sale conversations were not private and, as such, were

not protected by the Privacy Act.

B. Statement of Facts

The Defendant law enforcement officers in this case worked

together on the multi-agency Northwest Regional Drug Task Force ("the

Task Force"). CP at 851-52, 859-60. The Task Force includes members of

the Bellingham Police Department, the Whatcom County Sheriffs Office,

and the Washington State Patrol. CP at 284, 851-52, 859-60. The purpose

of the Task Force is to investigate controlled substance related crime

throughout Whatcom County. CP at 859-60. In March 2011, as part of



their duties on the Task Force, WSP Detective B.L. Hanger, Bellingham

Police Detective Craig Johnson, Lieutenant Rick Sucee, and Sergeant

Richard Frakes became involved in an investigation of illegal drug sales

by Mr. Newlun. CP at 239-40, 301-03, 347-50.

Specifically, Detective Johnson was advised by a confidential

informant that Mr. Newlun had a large amount of marijuana for sale.

CP at 94-5, 307-08, 852. Based on the informant's tip, Detective Johnson

worked with that person to arrange the purchase of a large quantity of

marijuana from Mr. Newlun and his wife. CP at 94-95. The deal was

arranged when the informant made a cold call to the Newluns' Oregon

residence and spoke to Mr. Newlun's wife. CP at 852. The informant had

no prior existing relationship with the Newluns, but was given their names

by another known drug dealer. CP at 852. Ultimately, Mr. Newlun

agreed to sell marijuana to the confidential informant. CP at 852. To

consummate the transaction the parties agreed to meet at the Valley

Village Shopping Mall in Sudden Valley, Wash, on March 16, 2011. CP

at 852-53. This "strip mall" style shopping center was open to the public

at the time of the meeting. CP at 853, 871-74.

Detective Hanger worked in an undercover role, and drove the

informant to the mall to meet Mr. Newlun. Detective Hanger drove the

vehicle and was in the driver's seat at all times during the transaction.



CP at 105-06, 853. The parties arrived at the mall at approximately 1:30

p.m. CP at 853. Detective Hanger wore a transmitting device that

broadcast his voice and the voices of those near him to Detective Johnson,

who was monitoring the device in a location close-by. CP at 103, 348-49.

Detective Hanger wore the transmitting device based on concerns for

officer safety. Limited cell phone service in Sudden Valley impaired his

ability to communicate with Detective Johnson. CP at 347-50, 860-61.

Once at the mall, the informant phoned Mr. Newlun to advise him

oftheir location in the parking lot. CP at 862. Newlun then parked his car

next to Detective Hanger's vehicle and the parties communicated through

the open windows of their respective vehicles in the public parking lot.

CP at 862. The shopping plaza was busy at the time of the conversation

and other vehicles and shoppers were present. CP at 862. There were

shoppers passing by as Detective Hanger, the informant, and Plaintiff

talked loudly to each other through open car windows. CP at 862.

Detective Hanger activated the transmitting device immediately before the

face-to-face conversation with Mr. Newlun in the parking lot. CP at 112-

13.

The parties had a brief conversation in the parking lot and agreed

to drive to a nearby Whatcom County house owned by Mr. Newlun to

conduct the sale. CP at 862. They arrived at approximately 1:30 p.m.,



and Detective Hanger parked on the public street in front of Mr. Newlun's

house. CP at 853, 862-63. The house was on a residential street with

other homes on each side and across the street. CP at 876-81.

At the house, Mr. Newlun got out of his vehicle and stood

alongside Detective Hanger's vehicle while he and Hanger talked together

through Hanger's open car window. CP at 866-67. Through Detective

Hanger's window, the parties discussed how much marijuana was going to

be sold. CP at 866-67. Mr. Newlun then went into his house to retrieve

the marijuana. CP at 863. When he returned with the drugs, Mr. Newlun

spontaneously entered Detective Hanger's vehicle where the deal was

completed. CPat349.

While in Detective Hanger's vehicle, the parties only discussed the

terms of the drug transaction and potential future deliveries to Detective

Hanger. CP at 867-68. Mr. Newlun stated he came to Bellingham from

Oregon every two weeks to deliver marijuana. CP at 867-68. He also

stated another customer would be arriving soon after Hanger to purchase

marijuana from Mr. Newlun. CP at 867-68. Mr. Newlun also explained

how he cultivates certain marijuana products and that he had set prices for

his marijuana sales. CP at 867-68.

The confidential informant had never met Mr. Newlun in person

prior to March 16, 2011. CP at 99-101, 852. Additionally, Mr. Newlun



was previously unknown to the involved detectives. CP at 852, 861.

Detective Hanger and Mr. Newlun had never met or even spoken on the

phone; they were perfect strangers. CP at 852, 861.

After the drug deal, Mr. Newlun exited Detective Hanger's car.

CP at 863. Detective Hanger and the informant then left and met Detective

Johnson at a prearranged location. CP at 107. The transmitter was turned

off at that time. CPat 107.

Approximately 25 minutes after Detective Hanger left

Mr. Newlun's house, a man named Eric Pitts arrived at Mr. Newlun's

house and purchased marijuana from Mr. Newlun. CP at 868. Pitts was

arrested while driving away from the Mr. Newlun's house and found to

have four pounds ofmarijuana in his car. CP at 868.

Mr. Newlun was later arrested and charged with delivery of a

controlled substance, a felony. CP at 85-87. During the criminal

proceeding, he successfully moved to suppress evidence based on the

officers' failure to complete a written application to use the officer safety

wire transmitter as required by RCW 9.73.210. CP at 175-76, 900-993.

Because key evidence was supressed, Mr. Newlun was able to negotiate a

plea bargain and pleaded guilty to a reduced misdemeanor charge of

possession of 40 grams or less of marijuana. He later sued the Task Force

10



agencies and the individual officers who investigated him for violation of

the Washington State Privacy Act, Ch 9.73 RCW.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Appellate courts review decisions on summary judgment motions

de novo. City ofSequim v. Malkasian, 157 Wn.2d 251, 261, 138 P.3d 943

(2006). Summary judgment is appropriate when "there is no genuine issue

as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a

matter of law." Ranger Ins. Co. v. Pierce Cnty., 164 Wn.2d 545, 552, 192

P.3d 886 (2008) (internal citation omitted). When determining whether an

issue of material fact exists, the court must construe all facts and

inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, Ranger Insurance. See Reid v.

Pierce Cnty., 136 Wn. 2d 195, 201, 961 P.2d 333 (1998). A genuine issue

of material fact exists where reasonable minds could differ on the facts

controlling the outcome of the litigation. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d

434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982); Barrie v. Hosts ofAm., Inc., 94 Wn.2d

640, 618 P.2d 96 (1980).

Summary judgment is subject to a burden-shifting scheme. The

moving party is entitled to summary judgment if it submits affidavits

establishing it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See Meyer v.

Univ. of Wash, 105 Wn.2d 847, 719 P.2d 98 (1986). The nonmoving

11



party avoids summary judgment when it "set[s] forth specific facts which

sufficiently rebut the moving party's contentions and disclose the

existence of a genuine issue as to a material fact." Id. at 852. To this end

the nonmoving party "may not rely on speculation, [or] argumentative

assertions that unresolved factual issues remain." Seven Gables Corp. v.

MGM/UA Entm't Co., 106 Wn.2d 1,13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986).

B. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Summary Judgment
Pursuant to RCW 4.24.420

This is a lawsuit concerning an alleged violation of Ch. 9.73 RCW,

the Washington State PrivacyAct. RCW 9.73.060 permits the bringing of a

lawsuit for damages where the plaintiff claims "that a violation of this

statute [RCW 9.73] has injured his or her business, his or her person, or

his or her reputation.'" RCW 9.73.060 (emphasis added). In addition,

A person so injured shall be entitled to actual damages,
including mental pain and suffering endured by him or her
on account of violation of the provisions of this chapter, or
liquidated damages computed at the rate of one hundred
dollars a day for each day of violation, not to exceed one
thousand dollars, and a reasonable attorney's fee and other
costs of litigation.

Id. (emphasis added).

However, it is undisputed that during the events which Mr. Newlun

alleges give rise to his claims in this case, he was in the course of

12



commission of a felony, that is, the sale and delivery of a controlled

substance. RCW 4.24.420 states:

It is a complete defense to any action for damages for
personal injury or wrongful death that the person injured or
killed was engaged in the commission of a felony at the
time of the occurrence causing the injury or death and the
felony was a proximate cause of the injury or death.

Because it is undisputed that Mr. Newlun was engaged in the

commission of a felony during his interaction with Detective Hanger,

damages for alleged contemporaneous injury suffered are not available to

him. The Task Force Defendants have a "complete defense" in this case,

and it must be dismissed.

1. It Is Undisputed That Mr. Newlun's Alleged Injury
Occurred While He Was Committing a Felony

It is unlawful for any person to deliver, or possess with intent to

deliver, a controlled substance. RCW 69.50.401(1). When the controlled

substance in question is marijuana, its delivery is a Class C felony.

RCW 69.50.40l(2)(c). On March 16, 2011, Mr. Newlun possessed three

pounds of marijuana with intent to deliver it, and then did sell and deliver

it to Detective Hanger and the informant. Mr. Newlun admitted these

facts during his deposition in this matter. CP at 857-58.

2. It Is Undisputed That Mr. Newlun's Drug Sale Was a
Proximate Cause of His Alleged Injury

13



Where the facts are not in dispute, legal causation is for the court

to decide as a matter of law. Schooley v. Pinch's Deli Mkt, Inc.,

134 Wn.2d 468, 479, 951 P.2d 749 (1998). In the case at bar, the facts

are not in dispute. Mr. Newlun would never have even met Detective

Hanger if he had not agreed [through the informant] to sell him drugs.

CP at 861. During the drug deal, Hanger wore an officer safety wire that

transmitted, but did not record, Mr. Newlun's voice. Any alleged injury

Mr. Newlun sustained because the officer safety wire was worn without a

written authorization by the Task Force commander occurred during the

drug deal. Thus, the drug deal was a proximate cause of Mr. Newlun's

alleged injury. RCW 4.24.420 provides a "complete defense" in this

case, and it should be dismissed.

3. There Are No Disputed Material Facts in This Case

It is undisputed that the only reason Mr. Newlun and Detective

Hanger had any conversations on March 16, 2011, was to consummate

the sale of approximately three pounds of marijuana. It is undisputed that

Mr. Newlun and Detective Hanger were strangers prior to that date, and

would never have been in contact with one another, that is, no

transmission of Mr. Newlun's voice - but for that drug sale. It is also

undisputed that the sale of three pounds of marijuana is a felony under

Washington State law.

14



After the party moving for summary judgment submits adequate

affidavits, the nonmoving party must set out specific facts sufficiently

rebutting the moving party's contentions and disclosing the existence of a

material issue of fact; in doing so, the nonmoving party may not rely on

speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues

remain, or having its affidavits accepted at face value. Heath v. Uraga,

106 Wn. App. 506, 24 P.3d 413 (2001). Here, Mr. Newlun has placed no

evidence before this Court that supports an assertion that he was not in

the course of committing a felony at the time his conversations relating to

that felony were transmitted.

Moreover, Mr. Newlun did not attempt to dispute any of the facts

surrounding the drug sale. Rather, Mr. Newlun cited to State v. Salinas,

121 Wn.2d 689, 853 P.2d 439 (1993), a criminal case, and argued to the

trial court that all evidence relating to his drug sale should be suppressed

at trial in this case. CP at 988-89. In other words, while certain evidence

was properly suppressed in the criminal case against Mr. Newlun, he

argued that the fact he was engaged in a drug sale should also not be

admitted in this case.

Mr. Newlun's reliance on Salinas in this civil litigation was

obviously misplaced. By undertaking this lawsuit the plaintiff

necessarily consented to the exposure of all relevant evidence admissible

15



and admitted at trial. Rhinehart v. Seattle Times, 98 Wn.2d 226, 257, 654

P.2d 673 (1982); see also McDaniel v. City ofSeattle, 65 Wn. App. 360,

366, 828 P.2d 81 (1992) ("We cannot permit the plaintiff to conceal

highly probative evidence under the guise of the protection of a rule

which was intended to deter unlawful police conduct."). Since

Mr. Newlun did not contest the facts of the felonious drug sale, and

instead argued those facts should be ignored, and the facts of the sale are

verities on appeal. Because, but for that sale, Mr. Newlun's alleged

injuries would never have occurred, RCW 4.24.420 bars his lawsuit.

Where reasonable minds could reach but one conclusion from admissible

facts in evidence, judgment as a matter of law should be granted. White

v. State, 131 Wn.2d 1, 929 P.2d 396 (1997).

C. The Trial Court Also Erred in Denying Summary Judgment
Because Mr. Newlun's Transmitted Statements Are Not

"Private" for Purposes of The Privacy Act

Only "private communications" are protected by RCW 9.73, the

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