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

at 574 n.8 (internal citations omitted). Like an affidavit of probable cause, 

the written authorization serves to ensure that a reviewing court charged 

with determining the adequacy of probable cause may do so in a 

principled manner. That is its chief purpose. See, e.g., RCW § 9.73.230(7) 

(requiring a court to make an "ex parte review of the authorization" within 
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two days of receiving the report); see also State v. Neth, 165 Wash. 2d 

177, 182 (2008). 

Here, allowing police to later testify about the purpose of Trooper 

Hanger's wiretap, or the probable cause and reasonable suspicion that may 

have supported that wiretap, is akin to allowing a police officer testify 

about information he possessed but did not disclose to the magistrate who 

issued a search warrant. Thus, by ignoring the four-comer rule and 

considering untimely testimony justifying the interceptions in this case, 

the Superior Court erred. 

b. Allowing Police To Belatedly Demonstrate Reasonable 
Suspicion Or Probable Cause To Avoid Exemplary 
Damages Creates An Imbalanced Reading Of The Act 

By ignoring the four-comer rule, the Superior Court's reading of 

the statute imposes greater procedural protections on judicially-authorized 

wiretaps than on police-authorized wiretaps. 

Before the legislature amended the privacy act in 1989, the only 

way law enforcement officers could use wiretaps was by securing judicial 

approval. See RCW § 9.73.090(2). This section remains the general rule. 

The four comer rule applies to judicial authorizations issued under 

RCW § 9.73.090(2). A judge issuing an intercept order under this section 

has considerable discretion to determine whether the statutory safeguards 

have been satisfied. See State v. Porter, 98 Wash. App. 631, 634 ( 1999). 
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However, officers still must present on-the-record testimony to support the 

existence of probable cause. See RCW 9.73.090(2) (requiring "written" 

authorization or "telephonic" authorization that is "electronically 

recorded"). The "written" requirement ensures that a record may later be 

considered by a reviewing court on appeal. The reviewing court does not 

review the sufficiency of the application de novo. State v. Cisneros, 63 

Wash.App. 724, 728-29 (1992). It does, however, employ the four-corner 

rule. A reviewing court will not affirm the issuance of the wiretap when 

the facts set forth in the application are not minimally adequate to support 

the determination of probable cause. See Porter, 98 Wash. App. At 634; 

State v. Knight, 54 Wash.App. 143, 150-51 (1989). 

It would create an imbalance in the statutory scheme to impose the 

four-corner rule for the review of judicially authorized wire-taps, but not 

for the review of police-authorized wiretaps. This is especially the case 

since the provisions of the privacy act allowing police to temporarily self

authorize wiretaps are exceptions to the general rule requiring judicial 

approval. See RCW §§ 9.73.090(2), 9.73.200. And as discussed, the 

standards law enforcement must meet to obtain a lawful authorization to 

intercept under RCW §§ 9.73. 230 and 210 are much higher than the 

standards required of judicially-authorized wiretaps. Indeed, all of the 

procedures dictated by RCW §§ 9.73.210 and 230 ensure that a 
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meaningful judicial review of the police self-authorizations can be 

accomplished. Only by requiring the police to clearly state - in advance -

the names of those sought to be intercepted, the reason for the interception 

(investigation, officer safety or both), and the basis for the interception 

(probable cause or reasonable suspicion), can a court later ensure that the 

police did not overstep the legitimate bounds of their authority. Without a 

written record of what the police knew before the intercept took place, a 

court is unable to make a principled determination of the adequacy of 

probable cause. The remedial scheme - involving suppression, 

inadmissibility and civil damages - ensures that the officers may not profit 

from the contents of illegal surveillance in any way - either in a criminal 

or civil proceeding. 

In summary, a reading of the statute that would subject judicially-

approved wiretaps to greater scrutiny than those authorized by the police 

themselves would result in an imbalanced statutory construction that is 

inconsistent with the broad protections of the privacy act. 

c. Exemplary Damages Are Appropriate In This Case 
Because An Invasion Of Privacy Is Most Acute When 
Perpetrated By A Police Agency 

The legislature created the exemplary damages remedy in 1989 

when it expanded the authority of the police to self-authorize wiretaps in 

drug investigations. See RCW § 9.73.230(11). The legislature clearly 
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recognized that the general civil remedy previously available under RCW 

§ 9.73.050 provided an insufficient check on this newly ratified police 

discretion. Because the violation that occurred in this case was perpetrated 

by police officers who invalidly "self-authorized" the wiretap, the 

exemplary damages provision of RCW § 9.73.230(11) is appropriate. 

Exemplary damages refer to non-compensatory damages designed 

to punish intentional wrongs and deter their future commission by 

"making an example" of the offender. See Wilkes v. Wood, 98 Eng. Rep. 

489, 498 (1763) (exemplary damages awarded against the Secretary of 

State for an unlawful search of John Wilkes' papers). The more familiar 

term, "punitive damages" came into regular use a century later, and tends 

to obscure the deterrence-based origin and function of such damages by 

suggesting their principal function is retributive. The older term more 

accurately reflects the original function of such extra-compensatory 

damages: deterrence. See Exxon Shipping Co. v. Baker, 554 U.S. 471, 490 

(2008). 

This function of deterrence is frustrated by the Superior Court's 

construction of the statute. The consequence of this reading is that police 

are more insulated from liability when they completely fail to follow the 

procedures ofRCW §§ 9.73.210 or 230 than when they are merely 

negligent. Under the Superior Court's reading, police may be punished 
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with exemplary damages when an authorization for an investigation wire 

provides no probable cause or reasonable suspicion, so long as there is 

some scrap of paper identifying it as an "authorization" made under RCW 

§ 9.73.230. But where, as here, police produce no written documentation 

at all, they are insulated from the exemplary damage award. 

This construction is wrong. It undermines the purpose of the 

exemplary damages remedy-to punish police misconduct. It also 

undermines the statutory command that all interceptions be supported-in 

advance-by an written authorization detailing-with particularity-the 

elements ofRCW §§ 9.73.210 or 9.73.230. It provides a free pass on civil 

liability for police officers who simply state, after an illegal interception 

has taken place, that their conduct was necessary for officer safety. Under 

such a construction, the police would be financially better off to ignore the 

law entirely and follow no procedures, than to be neglectful by obtaining a 

written authorization to intercept without the necessary probable cause or 

reasonable suspicion. Indeed, the Superior Court itself recognized the 

dilemma of its own construction: "that in some ways it's even worse ifthe 

police do no application or no written authorization than if they followed 

the process in a flawed way." Report of Proceedings August 9, 2013 at 

pages 19-20. 
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The evil of this construction is further illustrated by the Joaquin 

Meza case. Mr. Meza was the only other person, according to the police, 

whose conversation was intercepted by Trooper Hanger and Det. Johnson 

without advance written authorization under RCW §§ 9.73.230 or 210. On 

the basis of this investigation, Mr. Meza was referred to federal court for 

prosecution and was sentenced to ten years. A salient fact of Mr. Meza' s 

case is that neither Trooper Hanger, who carried the wire, nor Det. 

Johnson, who monitored from nearby, ever disclosed their use of the wire 

in the written reports. Thus, but for the litigation in case, Mr. Meza would 

never have made aware of the potentially illegal police activity that led to 

his arrest. The police documents related to Mr. Meza's case are available 

at CP 439-78. 

In summary, when police fail to comply with the privacy act 

completely - as they did here - they should not be allowed to avoid 

exemplary damages by presenting evidence of the reasonable suspicion or 

probable cause required under RCW § 9.73.230(11) when that evidence is 

presented after the illegal intercept has already taken place. In an 

application for a wire under RCW §§ 9.73.210 and 230, the necessary 

factual showing must be made in the written application. The Superior 

Court was wrong to credit the officers' late testimony to establish what the 

purpose of the wiretap was, and any probable cause or reasonable 
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suspicion that may supported it. Without a written "authorization," the 

police have no evidence with which to demonstrate the requisite probable 

cause or reasonable suspicion. 

2. The Felony Tort Statute, RCW § 4.24.420, Does Not Apply To 
Actions For Violations Of The Privacy Act 

Under Washington's felony tort statute, RCW § 4.24.420, a 

defendant is completely absolved of liability if a causal relationship can be 

established between a plaintiffs felonious conduct and the plaintiff's 

injuries. The statute provides the defendant with a defense to an action for 

damages for personal injuries or wrongful death if the plaintiff was injured 

or killed in the commission of a felony and the plaintiff's commission of 

the felony was causally related in time, place, and activity to the plaintiffs 

injuries. Id. RCW § 4.24.420 is inapplicable to bar the civil remedies that 

are explicitly provided for in Washington's privacy act. And even if it did 

apply, the defendants here cannot show, as a matter of law, the requisite 

causation. 

a. The Felony Tort Statute Does Not Apply To Cancel the 
Statutory Civil Damages Provided For In The Privacy 
Act 

The felony tort statute was adopted in a fervor of tort reform that 

resulted in the passage of the Washington Tort Reform Act. It was passed 

to limit recovery for common law actions for tort, not statutorily 
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prescribed remedies that punish illegal government activity. See, e.g., 

1986 JOURNAL, 49th Leg., Reg. Sess. & 1st Spc. Sess at 15 ("We have 

seen all kinds of crazy cases in which a felon runs across a skylight and 

falls into a school and sues and gets a quarter of a million dollars. Those 

kinds of cases are what has driven the cost up and we have to do 

something to change our tort system and bring it in line."). Indeed, the 

statute itself contains an exception for actions brought under 42 U .S.C. 

§ 1983. See RCW § 4.24.420 ("nothing in this section shall affect a right 

of action under 42 U.S.C. Sec. 1983"). This exception effectively prevents 

government officials sued under Section 1983 from taking advantage of 

the statute's complete defense. 

The felony tort statute has been almost universally enforced to 

prevent plaintiffs from recovering in tort for injuries incurred due to police 

action police taken in hot pursuit of the fleeing plaintiff. See, e.g., Estate 

of Villarreal ex rel. Villarreal v. Cooper, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1063, 1078 

(E.D. Wash. 2013) (wrongful death tort); White v. Pletcher, 170 Wash. 

App. 1012 (2012) (unpublished) (assault, battery, and negligent and 

intentional infliction of emotional distress torts); Estate of Lee ex rel. Lee 

v. City of Spokane, 101 Wash. App. 158, 175 (2000) (wrongful death, 

survivor and outrage torts). The only case the defendants can point to for 

the proposition that the felony tort statute limits statutorily prescribed 
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remedies is Dickinson v. City of Kent, No. C06-1215RSL, 2007 WL 

4358312 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 10, 2007). Dickinson too involved the classic 

felony tort scenario - a plaintiff was involved a police chase that ended 

when a police dog immobilized him; he sustained puncture wounds on his 

leg in the process. Id. at* 1. The plaintiff sued under Washington's strict 

liability dog bite statute, RCW 16.08.040. Ultimately, the Court found that 

whether or not RCW § 4.24.420 provides a complete defense to plaintiffs 

strict liability claim was a matter properly reserved for trial. Id. at *3. 

In any event, the felony tort statute cannot provide a defense to the 

exemplary damages provision of RCW § 9.73.230(11). Exemplary 

damages, by definition, are not damages awarded for personal injury. 

Their purpose is to deter. See p. 23-26, supra; see also Restatement 

(Second) of Torts§ 908, cmt. a ("The purposes of awarding punitive 

damages, or ·exemplary' damages as they are frequently called, are to 

punish the person doing the wrongful act and to discourage him and others 

from similar conduct in the future."); BMW of North America, Inc. v. 

Gore, 517 U.S. 559, 582 (1996) (recognizing that heavier punitive 

damages awards have been thought to be justifiable when wrongdoing is 

hard to detect, increasing the defendant's chances of getting away with it): 

Er:xon S'hipping Co. v. Baker, 554 U.S. 471, 494-95 (2008) (recognizing 

that some regulatory schemes provide by statute for multiple recovery in 
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order to induce private litigation to supplement official enforcement that 

might fall short if unaided). 

In this case, applying the felony tort statute to limit the remedies of 

the privacy act would thwart the purpose of the privacy act's broad 

remedial scheme-"The Washington privacy act puts a high value on the 

privacy of communications. In light of its strong wording, the act must be 

interpreted to effectuate the legislative intent." State v. Christensen, 153 

Wash. 2d 186, 200 (2004). It would also insulate police misconduct of the 

type exemplified here. Defendant police officers in actions brought under 

the privacy act should not be absolved of civil liability simply because 

their negligence-here, their utter failure to comply with the privacy act-

was directed at a plaintiff, who, luckily for defendants, may have 

committed a crime. There is no language within the privacy act to suggest 

that it only protects those innocent individuals targeted by the police. 

Instead, the Act affords a robust remedial scheme, designed to deter police 

misconduct and to keep the number of privacy violations low. 

b. Even If the Felony Tort Statute Did Apply, The 
Defendants Cannot Show The Requisite Causation As A 
Matter of Law 

Even if the felony tort statute did apply, the defendants still must 

show two things: that Mr. Newlun's conduct constituted a felony and that 

this felony was the proximate cause of his injury. See RCW § 4.24.420. 
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First, Mr. Newlun was not convicted of a felony in the underlying 

criminal proceeding-he pleaded guilty to a misdemeanor. Second, any 

evidence that might establish the commission of a felony is inadmissible 

due to police noncompliance with the Washington privacy act. See CP 

175-77; see also RCW § 9.73.050. 

Second, the defendants cannot establish that Mr. Newlun's injury 

was causally related to the commission of a felony in time, place, or 

activity. Under the law, the unlawful act must be found to have 

proximately caused the injury. RCW § 4.24.420. Here, it was the officers' 

failure to get a signed written authorization satisfying the statutory 

requirements that caused the statutory breach of Mr. Newlun's right to 

privacy, not any illegal act he committed. Indeed, Mr. Newlun's injury-

caused by the police failure to obtain the lawful authorization-was not 

caused by the alleged illegal activity. It occurred prior to that activity. 

Thus, there can be no causal link between Mr. Newlun's alleged illegal 

activity and the officers' decision to violate RCW § 9.73.230 by illegally 

intercepting and transmitting Mr. Newlun's conversation. Thus, the 

defendants cannot meet the proximate causation requirement of RCW 

§ 4.24.420.4 

4 And even if that were not true, the proximate cause component of 
RCW § 4.24.420 will almost always be a question of fact. See Petersen v. 
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3. The Conversation Between Mr. Newlon, Trooper Hager And 
The Confidential Informant Was A "Private Communication" 
Under Washington Case Law 

The defendants argue that the case should be terminated because, 

as a matter oflaw, the intercepted conversation between Mr. Newlun, the 

confidential informant and Trooper Hager was not "private" under the 

Washington privacy act. Thus, the defendants maintain, no authorization 

under RCW §§ 9.73.090, 210 or 230 was required. 

It is a strange turn when police agencies supposedly constrained 

by the Washington Privacy Act present an argument which would 

eliminate the need for written authorizations when the undercover police 

converse with the public. 

a. The Defendants Have Waived The Argument That Mr. 
Newlon Was Not Engaged In A Private Conversation 

The defendants have previously told the court repeatedly that this 

case involves a violation of the Washington Privacy Act, and that the 

appropriate remedy is one hundred dollars in liquidated damages, not

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